IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

ROBERT P. SMITH, JR., et al.

Appellants/

Cross-Appellees,

vs. * CASE NO. 69,551 *

DEPARTMENT OF INSURANCE, et al.,

Appellees/ Cross-Appellants.

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANTS/CROSS-APPELLEES, THE CIGNA GROUP

ALAN C. SUNDBERG
CYNTHIA S. TUNNICLIFF
F. TOWNSEND HAWKES
Carlton, Fields, Ward, Emmanuel,
Smith, Cutler and Kent, P.A.
Post Office Drawer 190
Tallahassee, Florida 32304

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Appellants, INSURANCE COMPANY OF NORTH AMERICA; INDEMNITY INSURANCE COMPANY OF NORTH AMERICA; CIGNA INSURANCE COMPANY; PACIFIC EMPLOYER'S INSURANCE COMPANY; AETNA INSURANCE COMPANY; CENTURY INDEMNITY COMPANY; AETNA FIRE UNDERWRITERS; BANKERS STANDARD INSURANCE COMPANY; BANKERS STANDARD FIRE AND MARINE COMPANY; and INA EMPLOYER'S INSURANCE COMPANY ("CIGNA"), filed a Complaint in the Leon County Circuit Court seeking to have the Tort Reform and Insurance Act of 1986 (Chapter 86-160, Laws of Florida, App. A) declared unconstitutional on several grounds. CIGNA's lawsuit was consolidated with two pending suits brought by other groups of insurers attacking the same Act. Appellees, STATE OF FLORIDA, DEPARTMENT OF INSURANCE, and BILL GUNTER, as Insurance Commissioner of the State of Florida ("the DEPARTMENT"), sought to uphold the constitutionality of the challenged Act. Intervention was granted to interested groups, including the Academy of Florida Trial Lawyers (Robert Smith) aligned with Plaintiffs and the Florida Medical Association, Florida Power and Light Company, and the Florida Railroad Association aligned with the Defendants.

After the trial judge, Charles E. Miner, Jr., reserved ruling on cross-motions for summary judgment regarding whether the Act violated the single-subject requirement of Article III, Section 6, Florida Constitution, the case proceeded to trial on

September 4-6 and 18-19, 1986. On October 27, 1986, Judge Miner rendered the Final Judgment declaring that Section 66(1)-(3) of the Act was unconstitutional (App. B). This part of the Act would have required insurers to refund or rebate a special credit to commercial liability policyholders for a portion of premiums already paid. Because the special credit applied to contracts of insurance in existence prior to the Act's effective date, the trial judge found that this provision unconstitutionally impaired existing contracts. In his holding, the trial judge noted there was no support for the general perception that commercial liability insurance rates were too high (App. B, Judgment at 39). The remainder of the Act, however, was held to be constitutional. It is from this finding of constitutionality of the balance of the Act that CIGNA appeals.

Chapter 86-160 is a multi-faceted law which first effectuates far-reaching regulatory reforms of commercial property and casualty insurance. Provisions which were of special interest during trial included Section 10, which provides for refund of newly defined excess profits to a limited class of insureds, Section 13 which grants unlimited discretion to the Department to establish various property and casualty joint underwriting associations (JUA's), and Section 66, which, in addition to mandating special credits, also requires that commercial liability insurance rates be effectively rolled back

to 1984 rates. CIGNA challenged each of these Sections on a discrete constitutional basis, arguing that the cumulative effect of these unconstitutional parts required invalidation of the entire Act. Second, Chapter 86-160 includes sweeping reforms of all types of civil damages litigation, including both contract and tort reform. Because the Act included both insurance regulatory reform and broad changes to all types of civil actions, CIGNA challenged the entire Act for containing multiple subjects in violation of Article III, Section 6, Florida Constitution. The single-subject argument raised by CIGNA was not directly addressed by the trial court and is the most significant issue raised on appeal.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

Chapter 86-160 as a whole violates Article III, Section 6, Florida Constitution, because the Act contains multiple subjects. The Act goes much further than previous statutes upheld against single-subject challenges by the Supreme Court in State v. Lee, 356 So.2d 276 (Fla. 1978), and Chenoweth v. Kemp, 396 So.2d 1122 (Fla. 1981). These cases must mark the outer-limits of permissible subject matter inclusion if the single-subject requirement is to retain any vitality whatsoever. Chapter 86-160 not only includes insurance regulation and tort reform, as did the laws in Lee and Chenoweth, but also includes extensive reforms in the entire field of civil damages litigation, including all contract cases. These expansive litigation reforms in areas such as contract claims are primarily unrelated to the subject and purpose of the Act, assuring available and affordable liability insurance.

This sweeping reform of all civil damages litigation results from Section 50 of the Act, which applies most tort reforms to all actions for damages, whether in contract or tort. By including all types of contract actions, such as sale of goods under the U.C.C., promissory notes, real estate, and franchises, the Act has included an array of subjects which do not implicate liability insurance. The classic contract claim involves a party's business decision not to perform under a

contract, a decision which is not an insurable matter. Since all contract claims are included in the Act and yet are primarily unrelated to liability insurance, the Act contains multiple subjects and must fall in its entirety.

Section 13 of the Act, which grants unlimited discretion to the Department to establish any type of joint underwriting association, is an unlawful delegation of legislative authority. This violation arises due to the lack of standards or guidelines imposed on the Department's exercise of its authority, which depends on the vague standard of "prudent business practices." Such a standard imposes no meaningful control over delegated authority and thus violates the principles of separation of powers.

Section 10 of the Act, which provides for a risk management incentive fund composed of newly defined excess profits, denies equal protection because the fund is distributed in an unfair and arbitrary fashion. This fund suffers the same defect as the Good Driver's Incentive Fund in State v. Lee, which was stricken as unconstitutional. Under this Act, only lucky insureds who both risk manage and who actually have low claims losses can receive distribution from the fund. This dual requirement is irrational since luck is the determining criterion for reward.

Section 66(5)-(6), which provides for mandatory insurance rate rollback to 1984 adjusted rates, violates due process guarantees because no notice or hearing is provided before those 1984 rates are arbitrarily imposed on insurers. Regardless of an insurer's profits, the Act imposes a blanket disallowance of existing rates, previously accepted by the Department under prior law. Moreover, because the trial court found no basis for asserting that existing rates were excessive, the rollback to 1984 adjusted rates is unwarranted and arbitrary, unconstitutionally denying insurers the opportunity to earn a fair return. These discrete constitutional defects, when cumulated, again result in the unconstitutionality of the entire Act.

CHAPTER 86-160 VIOLATES THE SINGLE-SUBJECT REQUIREMENT OF THE FLORIDA CONSTITUTION.

Chapter 86-160 contains multiple subjects and thus violates Article III, Section 6, Florida Constitution, which mandates, in pertinent part:

Every law shall embrace but one subject and matter properly connected therewith....

Chapter 86-160 not only affects insurance and tort laws, but also works extensive changes in all other types of civil damages cases, such as contract litigation. These widespread changes result in the inclusion of unrelated subject matters, which significantly exceed the limits of prior case law interpreting Article III, Section 6. The choice this Court faces is whether to condone the final erosion of the single-subject requirement or to firmly establish prior cases as the outer-limits of constitutional tolerance.

An analysis of the constitutionality of a law under this provision must begin with the purpose and origin of the single-subject requirement. Only through an appreciation of the evil sought to be avoided can an accurate assessment of a statute's validity under this provision be made. The most comprehensive exposition of the provision's purpose is set forth in Colonial Investment Co. v. Nolan, 100 Fla. 1349, 131 So. 178 (Fla. 1930):

The object of this constitutional provision, which in substance has been placed in practically all of the constitutions of the several states, was to prevent hodgepodge, logrolling, and omnibus legislation. It had become quite common for legislative bodies to embrace in the same bill incongruous matters having no relation to each other, or to the subject specified in the title, by which means measures were often adopted without attracting attention. And frequently such distinct subjects, affecting diverse interests, were combined in order to unite the members who favored either in support of all. And the failure to indicate in the title the object of a bill often resulted in members voting ignorantly for measures which they would not knowingly have approved. And not only were members thus misled, but the public also; and legislative provisions were sometimes pushed through which would have been made odious by popular discussion and remonstrance if their pendency had been seasonably demonstrated by the title of the bill. Thus it was long since decided that these evils should be corrected by constitutional provisions preventing such aggregations of incongruous measures by confining each act to one subject and matter properly connected therewith, which subject should be briefly expressed in the title.

Colonial, 131 So. at 179. The primary evil addressed by the single-subject requirement is "logrolling", and hence the correct focus of inquiry is the unity of subject matter enacted by a law rather than the law's subsequent effects.

Logrolling undermines the democratic process in two ways. First, when various unrelated measures are lumped together, the effect is to secure passage of provisions which, if

considered individually, would never garner majority support. In this way a legislator is forced to vote for measures which he does not favor in order to pass one he does support. Indeed, each subject in a multifarious bill may lack majority support individually, but, when aggregated, the multiple subjects create a passable bill. Second, the representative process is subverted by hodgepodge legislation since it creates a realistic danger that lawmakers will inadvertently enact laws through ignorance of the laws' content.

The trial judge found that Chapter 86-160 did not violate the single-subject requirement because State v. Lee, 356 So.2d 276 (Fla. 1978), and Chenoweth v. Kemp, 396 So.2d 1122 (Fla. 1981), approved the combination of the Act's subject matters. See App. B, Judgment at 3-12. This finding is in error because the trial court simply ignored the critical differences between the subject matters included in Chapter 86-160 and those included in laws upheld by Lee and Chenoweth. Significantly, both Lee and Chenoweth approved laws concerning liability

The trial court also confused the single-subject requirement with the adequacy of title requirement of Article III, Section 6: "... and the subject shall be briefly expressed in the title." These are separate requirements. CIGNA does not challenge, on appeal, the adequacy of title, but submits that both the title and the body contain two subjects. Mere provision of an adequate title does not mean that the single-subject requirement is also satisfied. In this case, it merely means that two subjects are adequately titled.

insurance and related tort litigation reforms. Neither case approved a law which contained liability insurance reform and civil litigation reform which encompassed all civil litigation for damages. The trial court failed to recognize that civil litigation is a much broader field than just tort litigation.

See App. B, Judgment at 8. The Act's pervasive reforms even affect cases such as commercial contract litigation which are primarily unrelated to liability insurance. Therefore, the broad field of civil damages litigation is not a matter properly connected with liability insurance since so many areas of civil litigation do not concern insurance.

Chapter 86-160 goes much further in its inclusion of subject matters, because it does not merely deal with insurance and tort reform as did the laws under review in Lee and Chenoweth. Surprisingly, the Act applies many of its misnomered "tort reforms" to any type of contract claim, including sale of goods, insurance policies, real estate, promissory notes, business buy-sell, and franchises. This unexpected inclusion of subject matters unrelated to liability insurance concerns is caused by the Section 50 universal application effect, which enlarges applicability of the "tort reforms" (Part III) to cover all damages actions:

768.71 Applicability; conflicts. -

(a) Except as otherwise specifically provided, this part applies to any action

for damages, whether in tort or in contract. (emphasis supplied).

This deceptively simple provision has the startling consequence of blanket application of the "tort reform" provisions to every type of damages action, including personal or commercial contracts actions. This universality effect is undisputed.

An examination of the laws dealt with in Lee and Chenoweth demonstrates that this broad sweep of the new Act has exceeded even the outer-limits established in those cases. Lee, the law under review, Chapter 77-468, dealt with automobile insurance reform and several tort reforms relating to automobile liability insurance, such as abolishing the collateral source rule and increasing the remittitur/additur powers of the trial court in automobile negligence cases. Rating standards for automobile insurance were created along with a "Good Driver's Incentive Fund" which was designed to encourage safe driving. Importantly, the limited area of tort litigation affected by the law "relate[d] primarily to tort litigation arising from automobile negligence." Id. at 282. Because automobile negligence suits had a discernible effect on the automobile insurance industry, the act was upheld in Lee against a single-subject attack. Id. at 282. It should be noted, however, that the act under review in Lee dealt with automobile tort reform, risk avoidance, and automobile liability insurance, all of which had recognized interrelated effects.

Similarly, in Chenoweth, the act under review, Chapter 76-260, focused its changes on insurance and tort reform in the medical malpractice arena. The act in Chenoweth implemented tort reforms similar to those in Lee for medical malpractice cases, such as abolishing the collateral source rule, expanding the trial court's remittitur/additur powers, and structuring future damage awards in malpractice cases. The act also established insurance related devices of medical incident committees for hospitals, and revised the Florida Medical Malpractice Joint Underwriting Association and Patient's Compensation Fund. Finally, the act reorganized the insurance code provision relating to unfair insurance practices. Again, since all provisions related to insurance or the properly connected subject of medical malpractice litigation reform, and because these had apparent interconnected effects, the Act was upheld. Chenoweth, 396 So.2d at 1124.

In contrast, review of the "tort reforms" implemented by Chapter 86-160 reveals many significant changes to areas other than tort litigation, such as all contract actions. Not only does the Act fail to limit its litigation reforms to a narrow area of torts, such as automobile negligence or malpractice, but, critically, the Act also fails to limit its reforms to tort litigation itself. Under Section 53, a trial court is given expanded powers to award remittitur or additur, and all damage awards must

be subject to "close scrutiny" of the court. The trial judge is given broader power to determine the appropriateness of the amount of contract damages awarded, changing the prior general rule under Wackenhut Corp. v. Canty, 359 So.2d 430 (Fla. 1978), which had severely restricted the use of remittitur. Also, the power of additur is newly created for all contract actions for damages.

Further, Section 57 provides that all future economic losses exceeding \$250,000 must be paid by periodic payments upon a defendant's request, unless the court determines that "manifest injustice" would result. If an automobile dealer successfully sued a manufacturer for breach of franchise, and recovered damages for future lost profits accruing over a five-year period, then these damages would be subject to periodic payments over a five-year period. This limitation on recovery of damages would also directly affect all contracts for the sale of goods under Article II of the Uniform Commercial Code (U.C.C.) whenever an injured party sought damages for future lost profits.

Additionally, Section 58 requires awards of attorney's fees to either party who prevailed by a factor of 25% above his settlement offer, in any type of damages action. This rule, which obviously conflicts with the existing Offer of Judgment Rule, Florida Rule of Civil Procedure 1.442, effectively abrogates the "American Rule" which requires each side to bear

its own attorney's fees in litigation. Every contract action for damages, including actions under the U.C.C., now has an attorney's fee clause written into the case regardless of what the contract itself provided. This is a significant and unexpected change to our legal system, concealed under the rubric of "tort reform."

These effects on contracts and breach of contract actions cannot be primarily related to the "commercial liability insurance crisis." Obviously, liability insurance is simply not implicated in most breach of contract cases, which typically involve the intentional, business choice of one party not to perform contractual obligations, which are uninsured events. These changes apply directly to rights and remedies for all contracts as well as contracts under Article II of the Uniform Commercial Code (U.C.C.).

Surely there must exist some subjects which cannot be joined together in a single law. "For example, it is clear that a subject such as abortion should not be combined with revision of the Uniform Commercial Code." Lee, 356 So.2d at 287 (Sundberg, J., concurring in part, dissenting in part). Tort reform, liability insurance, and doctors' financial responsibility certainly are not connected with the U.C.C., any more than abortion laws are related to the U.C.C.

This lack of connection to liability insurance is critical since the purpose of the Act, stated in Section 2, is to "cure the current crisis and to prevent the recurrence of such a crisis" in liability insurance. There can exist no liability insurance crisis in areas such as commercial contracts or franchise agreements, because one cannot purchase insurance against the eventuality that he will make a business decision to breach such a contract. Because this vital connection is so utterly lacking, the Act violates the single-subject requirement of the Florida Constitution.

Considering the purposes of the single-subject requirement, it is difficult to conceive of an Act which could more clearly illustrate the evils of "hodgepodge, logrolling, and omnibus legislation." It cannot seriously be contended that the individual members of the Legislature, in enacting the Tort Reform and Insurance Act of 1986, intended or realized the full consequences of their action. Indeed, the Act's statement of legislative intent in Section 2 belies any recognition of changes except to the tort system and insurance:

The Legislature finds and declares that a solution to the current crisis in liability insurance has created an overpowering public necessity for a comprehensive combination of reforms to both the tort system and the insurance regulatory system.

Chapter 86-160 has achieved exactly what this Court stated was prohibited by the single-subject requirement, which "is to prevent a single enactment from becoming a 'cloak' for dissimilar legislation having no necessary or appropriate connection with the subject matter." Lee, 356 So.2d at 282. What legislator realized in passing this Act that rights under all types of commercial and personal contracts were being seriously altered?

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