FILED SID J. WHITE

IN THE SUPREME COURT JAN 12 1987

ROBERT P. SMITH, JR., et al,

Appellants,

vs.

DEPARTMENT OF INSURANCE, et al.,

Appellees and Cross-appellants.

By Deputy Clerk

1st Dist. Nos. BQ-75, 76, 77, 90 and 91; Circuit Court Leon County Nos. 86-2262, 2272 and 2363.

Appeal and cross-appeals from a judgment of the Circuit Court of the Second Judicial Circuit certified for Article V, Section 3(b)(5) review by the First District Court of Appeal.

ANSWER BRIEF FOR APPELLEE FLORIDA MEDICAL ASSOCIATION, INC.

WILLIAM H. ADAMS, III
ROBERT J. WINICKI
Mahoney Adams Milam Surface
& Grimsley
Post Office Box 4099
Jacksonville, Florida 32201
(904) 354-1100

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

Id. at 16.

The Court held that the structure of the No-Fault law bore a reasonable relationship to achieving these objectives and that, therefore, it was valid. It noted that it had ascribed No-Fault consequences to the law that had yet demonstrated and that might turn out to be nonexistent. court pointed out, however, that what it was actually doing was "presuming" the existence of circumstances supporting validity of the Legislature's action, in the absence of any evidence to the contrary. "This is the course we must follow . . . Assuming the circumstances to be as described above, the act before us is reasonably related to a permissible legislative objective, and comports with the requirements of due process of law." Id. at 17.

In Chapman v. Dillon, 415 So.2d 12 (Fla. 1982), the Court considered whether various amendments to the No-Fault enacted by the Legislature in 1979 rendered the law invalid. The amendments had removed some of the provisions which the Lasky court had relied upon in concluding that the No-Fault law provided a reasonable alternative to tort liability. change allowed an injured party to collect only part of his medical expenses and lost income. Under the previous version, the law had provided for recovery of all medical expenses and most of an individual's lost income. Another change which diminished the recovery provided under the original increased the allowable deductibles. The Fifth District Court of Appeal had held the amended law unconstitutional. This Court reversed, holding that, since the changes complained of were reasonable attempts to correct some of the practical problems which the No-Fault law had posed, the principles and reasoning in Lasky still applied. It wrote:

. . . [W]e do not find anything in <u>Lasky</u> to indicate that the decision was predicated upon a motorist's being insured for the full amount of his medical expenses and lost income. Instead the crux in <u>Lasky</u> was that all owners of motor vehicles were required to purchase insurance which would assure insured parties recovery of their major and salient economic losses.

\* \* \*

Hence, it was the fact that injured parties were assured prompt recovery of their major and salient economic losses, not all of their economic losses, which this court found dispositive in <u>Lasky</u>.

Id. at 17.

Justice Sundberg dissented, contending that the No-Fault law was unconstitutional but only "insofar as it eliminates all causes of action for intangible damages for nonpermanent injuries." (emphasis added) Id. at 19. He contended that the complete elimination of any right of recovery for intangible damages was unconstitutional since that right had been Thus, even withdrawn without supplying any viable alternative. Justice Sundberg impliedly conceded that a mere change in the amount recoverable for noneconomic damages does not violate Article I, Section 21.

In summary, the No-Fault cases hold that if the Legislature reasonably determines that tort system needs the to be modified, it may completely abolish the right to intangible damages. While a complete abolition of intangible damages may require the Legislature to provide an alternative remedy, it is clear that very little is needed to satisfy that requirement. The remedy need not be a suit or other claim against the individual who caused the injury. It may be only a claim against an insurance policy that the injured person is compelled to purchase and the insurance provided by that policy may be subject to very substantial deductibles. The No-Fault cases make it clear that Article I, Section 21 is not

applicable to situations in which the Legislature has merely placed a ceiling on the damages a plaintiff may recover.

## 2. <u>Abolition of Remedies -- Cases Approving Limitations</u> on Total Recovery

Florida courts have consistently upheld caps on the <u>total</u> amount of damages, economic or noneconomic, that a plaintiff may recover even when no alternative remedy is provided.

In Jetton v. Jacksonville Electric Authority, 399 So.2d 396 (Fla. 1st DCA 1981), the First District Court of Appeal, in an opinion by Judge Robert P. Smith, Jr., held that limitations of per individual and \$100,000 per incident \$50,000 for tort the State and its subdivisions claims against were not constitutionally defective because they did not completely abolish an established cause of action. Discussing Kluger and later decisions, the court noted that:

. . . [N]o substitute remedy need be supplied by legislation which reduces but does not destroy a cause Any rule preventing the legislature of action. . . decreasing the remedies some o f. within remedies affected class, while increasing the others, would commit Florida appear to constitutionally to an ever expanding tort liability Ву means is that a recognized no constitutional principle.

Id. at 398-99.

The court noted with approval similar holdings by appellate courts of other states. <u>See Estate of Cargill v. City of Rochester</u>, 406 A.2d 704 (N.H. 1979) (\$50,000 statutory limit on

municipal tort liability does not violate the state constitution's right to certain remedy clause); Stanhope v. Brown County, 280 N.W.2d 711 (Wisc. 1979) (similar \$25,000 limit validated).

In White v. Hillsborough County Hospital Authority, 448 So.2d 2 (Fla. 2d DCA 1983), the Second District Court of Appeal, following Jetton, held that legislative immunity for state employees from personal tort liability coupled with dollar limitations on tort claims against the state were valid because they merely reduced, but did not destroy, a plaintiff's cause of action. The court held that in such cases it is not essential that the Legislature provide a substitute remedy.

In Cauley v. City of Jacksonville, 403 So.2d 379 (Fla. 1981), this Court considered the constitutionality of Section 768.28(5) which limited to \$50,000 the total amount of money damages an injured person could recover against municipality. The Court stated that the question was whether the cap imposed by that section was valid for proprietary functions for which no sovereign immunity previously existed. 403 So.2d at 384. It upheld the limitation after finding that on July 4, 1776, no common law right existed to recover damages against a municipality for negligence; thus under Kluger v. White, Article 1, Section 21, was inapplicable.4

Despite the Smith Brief's assertion to the contrary, the Cauley court did <u>not</u> disapprove the First District's reasoning in Jetton. In footnote 12, it took note of the Jetton opinion:

12. We note that the First District Court of Appeal has recently upheld section 728.68 from constitutional attack in <u>Jetton v. Jacksonville Electric Authority</u>, 399 So.2d 396 (Fla. 1st DCA 1981). In addressing the asserted <u>Kluger</u> problem, the court said because section 768.28 merely narrowed the right to sue municipal government rather than abolished it, no constitutional infirmity presented itself. See <u>Abdin v. Fischer</u>, 374 So.2d 1379 (Fla. 1979); <u>McMillan v. Nelson</u>, 147 Fla. 334, 5 So.2d 867 (Fla. 1942).

Our holding that <u>Kluger</u> does not apply because no right existed at common law makes it unnecessary for us to consider the First District's reasoning.

Under the Florida cases, it is clear that the Legislature could probably eliminate any right to recover noneconomic damages. If it can cap total damages, it can certainly cap noneconomic damages. It follows that the \$450,000 limitation on noneconomic damages contained in Chapter 86-160 does not violate Article 1, Section 21.

<sup>4</sup> Under this reasoning, the right to recover damages for pain and suffering may not be a common law right protected by Article I, Section 21. The first case to clearly establish a right to recover noneconomic damages was the 1822 English case of Pippin v. Sheppard, 25 Rev. Rep. 746 (Ex. 1822). See O'Connell and Carpenter, Payment For Pain and Suffering Throughout History, Insurance Counsel Journal, July 1983, at 411-12 FMA Exhibit LL.

The rationale and holdings of the Florida cases are further supported by an important recent case in California. In Fein v. Permanente Medical Group, 695 P.2d 665 (Cal. 1985), appeal dismissed, \_\_\_ U.S. \_\_\_, 106 S.Ct. 214, 88 L.Ed. 215, (1985),

## D. Modification of Joint and Several Liability

Section 60 enacts a comparative fault rule and alters the

5 cont'd -the California Supreme Court upheld a provision of Medical Injury Compensation Reform California's limited noneconomic damages in medical malpractice cases to The court noted that a plaintiff has no vested \$250,000. property right in any particular measure of damages and that the California Legislature has broad authority to modify the and nature of recoverable damages. In determining scope the legislative cap was rationally related legitimate state interests, the court wrote:

. . . [In] enacting MICRA, the Legislature was acting in a situation in which it had found that the rising cost of medical malpractice insurance was posing serious problems for the health care system in California, threatening to curtail the availability of medical care in some parts of the state and creating the very real possibility that many doctors would practice without insurance, leaving patients who might be injured by such doctors with the prospect of uncollectable judgments.

Id. at 680.

The California Supreme Court pointed out that, in seeking a means of lowering malpractice costs, the California Legislature had placed no limits whatever on a plaintiff's right to recover for all of the economic damages resulting from the injury. Instead, the statutory limitation applied only to the recovery of noneconomic damages. Id. at 680.

With respect to intangible damages, the court wrote:

Thoughtful jurists and legal scholars have for some time raised serious questions as to the wisdom of awarding damages for pain and suffering in any negligence case, noting, inter alia, the inherent difficulties in placing a monetary value on such losses, the fact that money damages are at best only imperfect compensation for such intangible injuries and that such damages are generally passed on to, and borne by, innocent consumers.

Id. at 680-81.

common law doctrine of joint and several liability, replacing it with an apportionment of damages according to the percentage of each defendant's fault for (a) noneconomic damages in all cases where damages exceed \$25,000 and (b) economic damages only in cases where the defendant's fault is less than that of the claimant. Joint and several liability continues in all cases where the defendant's fault equals or exceeds that of the claimant and where claimant's damages do not exceed \$25,000.

To the extent it changes the common law rule, Section 60 apportions damages according to relative fault. This is exactly the same principle this Court followed in deciding Hoffman v. Jones, 280 So.2d 431 (Fla. 1973), in which the Court

<sup>5</sup> cont'd - The court went on to discuss the unpredictability of awards for intangible damages. On this subject it said:

the problems identified in the legislative hearings was the unpredictability of the size of noneconomic damage awards, resulting from the inherent difficulties in valuing such damages and the disparity in the price tag which different juries placed on such losses. The Legislature could reasonably have determined that an across-the-board limit would provide a more stable base on which to calculate insurance rates. Furthermore, as one amicus suggests, the Legislature may have felt that the fixed \$250,000 limit would promote settlements by eliminating "the unknown possibility of phenomenal awards for pain and suffering that can make litigation worth the gamble." Finally, the Legislature simply may have felt that it was fairer to malpractice plaintiffs in general to reduce only the very large noneconomic damage awards, rather than to diminish the more modest recoveries for pain and suffering and the like great bulk of cases. Each of these grounds provides a sufficient rationale for the \$250,000 limit.

Id. at 683.

replaced the common law absolute defense of contributory negligence with the doctrine of comparative negligence. The Court described its reasons for abandoning the contributory negligence defense as follows:

The contemporary conditions must be met with contemporary standards which are realistic and better calculated to obtain justice among all of the parties circumstances applying based upon the between them at the time in question. The rule of contributory negligence as a complete bar to recovery was imported into the law by judges. Whatever may have been the historical justification for it, today almost universally regarded as uniust inequitable to vest an entire accidental loss on one of the parties whose negligent conduct combined with the negligence of the other party to produce the loss. If fault is to remain the test of liability, comparative negligence which then the doctrine ο£ involves apportionment of the loss among those whose fault contributed to the occurrence is more consistent with liability based on a fault premise.

. . . .

favor Perhaps the best argument in movement from contributory to comparative negligence is that the latter is simply a more equitable system of determining liability and a more socially desirable loss distribution. The injustice ο£ occurs when a plaintiff suffers severe injuries as a result of an accident for which he is only slightly responsible, and is thereby denied any damages, is readily apparent. The rule of contributory negligence is a harsh one which either places the burden of loss for which two are responsible upon only one party or relegates to Lady Luck the determination of damages for which each of two negligent parties will liable. When the negligence of more than person contributes to the occurrence of an accident, each should pay the proportion of the total damages he has caused the other party.

. . . .

A primary function of a court is to see that legal conflicts are equitably resolved. In the field of tort law, the most equitable result that can ever be reached by a court is the equation of liability with fault. Comparative negligence does this more completely than contributory negligence, and we would be shirking our duty if we did not adopt the better doctrine.

Id. at 436-38.

While <u>Hoffman v. Jones</u> involved a change in common law doctrine by this Court, the Court explicitly noted that such changes could also be made by the Legislature. <u>Id</u>. at 436. By enacting Section 60, the Legislature has adopted the principle of comparative negligence and provided that contributory fault does not bar recovery. Using the same principle, it modified the doctrine of joint and several liability.

Hoffman v. Jones, the Court Two years after decided Licenberg v. Issen, 318 So.2d 386 (Fla. 1975), holding "that when the negligence of more than one person contributes to the occurrence of an accident, each should pay the proportion of total damages which he has caused the other party. rationale eliminates justification for the no contribution principle and dictates that this rule be abolished." Id. at The Court noted that prior to the Legislature's enactment in June, 1975, of the Uniform Contribution Among Tortfeasors Act, it was confronted with "the problem of determining what procedure will most fully effectuate the principle that each party should pay the proportion of the total damages he has caused the other party, and we considered alternatives." Id. at 392. One of the alternatives the Court

considered was elimination of joint and several liability. <u>Id</u>. at 392 n.2. However, the Court did not deal with that issue because, by enacting the Uniform Contribution Among Tortfeasors Act, the Legislature had decided to retain joint and several liability.

The arguments in Hoffman v. Jones for eliminating common law doctrine of contributory negligence apply equally to doctrine limiting the common law οf joint and liability. The horror story of a defendant who is 1% at fault being required to pay the entire verdict because of insolvency or immunity of other defendants who are 99% at fault is almost as bad as the horror story of the plaintiff who was denied all recovery because he was 1% at fault. For a recent example of just such a case, see Walt Disney World Co. v. Wood, 489 So.2d 61 (Fla. 4th DCA 1986). Allocating damages according to the degree of fault eliminates these problems.

While the issue of access to courts was not raised in either <u>Hoffman v. Jones</u> or <u>Licenberg v. Issen</u>, the Court's decisions in those cases make it clear that alterations in the common law rule of joint and several liability are reasonable and that they do not violate any part of the Constitution.

E. Sections 59 and 60 Do Not Deprive Injured Persons of Rights in Violation of the Equal Protection Clause.

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